United States of America v. Currency &#036;463,497.72 et al Doc. 131

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff, Case No. 08-11564
Hon. David M. Lawson
V.

FOUR HUNDRED SIXTY THREE THOUSAND
FOUR HUNDRED NINETY SEVEN DOLLARS
AND SEVENTY TWO CENTS ($463,497.72)
IN U.S. CURRENCY FROM BEST BANK

ACCOUNT # XXX2677, NINETEEN OPINION AND ORDER
THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED THIRTY DENYING MOTIONS FOR
SIX DOLLARS AND SEVENTY SEVEN SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
CENTS ($19,936.77) IN U.S. CURRENCY GRANTING IN PART AND
FROM BEST BANK ACCOUNT # XXX8558, DENYING IN PART

ONE HUNDRED ONE THOUSAND FIVE GOVERNMENT'S MOTION
HUNDRED EIGHTY THREE DOLLARS FOR DISCOVERY OR TO
AND NINETY EIGHT CENTS ($101,583.98) STAY PROCEEDINGS

IN U.S. CURRENCY FROM COUNTRYWIDE
BANK ACCOUNT # XXX5890, NINETEEN
THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED EIGHTY SEVEN
DOLLARS AND SEVEN CENTS ($19,987.07)

IN U.S. CURRENCY FROM COMERICA BANK
ACCOUNT # XXX0766, BEST BUY BANK
ACCOUNT # 259207438, ONE HUNDRED ONE
THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED AND THREE
DOLLARS AND TEN CENTS ($101,703.10) IN
U.S. CURRENCY FROM COUNTRYWIDE

BANK ACCOUNT # XXX5890, NINETEEN
THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED TWELVE
DOLLARS AND SEVEN CENTS ($19,912.07)

IN U.S. CURRENCY FROM COMERICA BANK
ACCOUNT # XXX0766, FIFTY ONE THOUSAND
THREE HUNDRED SEVENTEEN DOLLARS AND
SIX CENTS ($51,317.06) IN U.S. DOLLARS FROM
COUNTRYWIDE BANK ACCOUNT # XXX7528,
and SAFESCRIPT PHARMACY # 19, LLC,

Defendants,

and
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STACEY HOGAN GIANOPLOS, RONALD G.
CARSON, and H.D. SMITH WHOLESALE DRUG
COMPANY, INC.,

Claimants.
/

OPINION AND ORDER DENYING H.D. SMITH'S AMENDED MOTION FOR
PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, RONALD G. CARSON'S MOTION FOR
JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS OR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND STACEY

HOGAN GIANOPLOS’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

OR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING

IN PART GOVERNMENT’S MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER
OR TO STAY PROCEEDINGS, ESTABLISHING DISCOVERY DEADLINE,

AND ORDERING STATUS CONFERENCE

The government commenced this asset forfeiture case against cash in bank accounts
allegedly connected to the Safescript Pharmiadyarmington Hills, Michigan, contending that it
was proceeds from the illegal sale of controlled substances by pharmacy employees. The three
claimants — Stacey Hogan Gianoplos, Ron@ldCarson, and H.D. Smith Wholesale Drug
Company — contend that some of the moneytsconnected to the pharmacy operations, and all
of them are innocent owners. &hhave filed motions for summary judgment, which were argued
several months ago and have been pending for some time. Although some of the pharmacy
employees have been prosecuted, the governmeghtadditional time to develop a criminal case
against others, and it argued that allowing thes@nt matter to proceed would interfere with its
intentions. No additional indictments have been forthcoming, however, and this matter must
proceed. Fact issues that are apparent tr@record in the case preclude summary judgment;
therefore, the claimants’ motions must be denied. The matter will be scheduled for trial. The Court
will set a date to complete discovery, and grargart the government’s motion for a protective

order.






l. Facts
A. The criminal activity

This in rem civil forfeiture proceeding is directed against five bank account defendants,
totaling approximately $650,000.00. The case wead bn April 11, 2008. The FBI seized the
funds two days earlier, on April 9, 2008. ekiously, on May 10, 2007, Drug Enforcement
Administration (DEA) agents executed search warrants at the Safescript Pharmacy in Farmington
Hills, Michigan. The search of the pharmacglgied 18 prescriptions on prescription pads of one
Dr. Djamali, who, when questioned about the pads, denied ever writing or signing those
prescriptions. The pads contained an unassigned DEA number and the signature and contact
information that were not Dr. Djamali’s. Instgation revealed that the prescriptions were
presented by one George Scott, who would clantiee pharmacy three times per week, sometimes
twice a day, posing as an employee of a group home, and present various prescriptions for
OxyContin or Methadone that were fillbg Safescript’s pharmacist Richard Riozzi.

On January 29, 2009, Riozzi was indicteayngl with four other individuals — Sohrab
Shafinia, D.O., Stuart Stein, Randell McDanield&erald Richards — on charges of distributing,
controlled substances, including the Schedule Il drug OxyContin. The government alleged that
Stein, McDaniel, and Richards paid Dr. Shafiinan $100 to $300 per occasion for prescribing a
mixture of drugs containing OxyCbn (the mixture that would lat&ecome known as the “Shafinia
Cocktail”) without examining or sometimes even seeing the patients. George Scott (who was
charged with conspiracy to distribute controlidstance in a separate indictment) would then
present these prescriptions to Richard Riozhie@Safescript Pharmacy, and Riozzi would fill them

without the patients being present. Riozzi was paid around $400 per occasion.



Shafinia, Stein, Riozzi, McDaniel, and Scott evatly pleaded guilty to one or more counts
of their respective indictments.

B. Allegations regarding Safescript, Gianoplos, and Carson

The Safescript Pharmacy in Farmington Hel®wned by Safescript Pharmacy # 19, LLC.
Stacey Gianoplos is the resident agent. She istadswmife of Ronald G. Carson, the resident agent
of Safescript Pharmacies of Michigan, LLC, whishow defunct. The govement alleges that the
seized assets belong either to SafescriptrRhey, Gianoplos, or Carson and constitute or are
derived from proceeds traceable to illegal distriimuivf controlled substances in violation of 21
U.S.C. 8§ 841, use of a fictitiousgistration number in the distribution of controlled substances in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 843; or money launderingimiation of 18 U.S.C§ 1956. Therefore, the
government reasons, the assets are forfeitable under 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6) and 18 U.S.C. §
981(a)(1)(A).

The government makes the following specific allegations with respect to each of the
defendant accounts:

(1) BestBank account ending in 2677 ($463,497-+23afescript’s interest-bearing money
market account (and its predecessor account ending in 0160, in the names of Safescript Pharmacy,
Gianoplos, and Carson, closed on August 21, 200%e government alleges that of the $703,210
deposited into this account, at least $400,000 represents proceeds from illegal sales of controlled
substances. As one example of the accountte tlkegal proceeds, the government contends that
this account absorbed part of the cash Safeszaipied in the illegal sale of controlled substances
on May 9 and 11, 2007. The deposits of cash from fraudulent prescriptions continued into the

account after the predecessor account was closed. During this same period, Scott paid cash for



illegal prescriptions. For example, on May 9 and May 11, 2007, Scott purchased 28 illegal
prescriptions for approximately $39,200. May 12, 2007, a cash deposit of $19,500 was made to
Account Number *0160. Bank records show simitansactions occurring frequently between
February and May 2007.

The Michigan Automated Prescription ServiceXRB) data shows that on 29 separate days,
approximately 333 prescriptions wendefd using unassigned DEA number BD9374911; the
government attributes the frequgrio Scott’s presentation fraudutgmescriptions filled by Riozzi.
“Scott paid approximately $1,400 for each prescription or approximately $466,200 for 333
prescriptions.” Am. Compl. 19(m). SafegtiPharmacy BestBank Account Number *0160 records
show cash deposits made on or near the day ofteataction involving illegal prescriptions. “In
total, the cash deposited into the accounts amounts to $330,81@.” During that same three
month time period, Safescript's money market account number *2677 received cash deposits
totaling $51,150.

(2) BestBank account ending in 8558 ($19,936-+73afescript’s checking account out of
which payrollis paid.The government alleges that taccount “received high dollar transfers from
Best Bank Account Number *0160. Since Aug2807, this account recd between 33% and
95% of its funds from transfers from SafegtPharmacy BestBank Account Number *0160 and
Safescript Pharmacy BestBank Account Nunf@éi77. The use of proceeds in the payroll account
..., funded with [proceeds from unlawful drudesd constitutes transactions involved in money
laundering intended to promote the continued viotes of the Controlled Substances Act.” Am.

Compl. T 9(n).



(3) Countrywide Bank account ending5890 ($101,703.10) — Carson’s interest-bearing
savings accountThe government alleges: “Investigation reveals that there was an internet transfer
of $100,000.00 from Best Bank Account Numt2877 to BestBank Account Number *8558. On
October 16, 2007, a check made payable to Ronald G. Carson for $100,000.00 from BestBank
Account Number *8558 was endorsed by Carson and deposited into BestBank Account Number
*7438 on October 16, 2007. On or aboutdbetrr 19, 2007, Carson transferred $100,000.00 via wire
transfer from BestBank Account Numbéi438 to Countrywide Bank Account Number *5890.
These transactions involved [illegal drug salestpeds and were intended to disguise and conceal
the true nature and source of the [illegal drug sales] proceeds, and thus constituted money
laundering.” Am. Compl. T 9(0).

(4) Comerica Bank account ending @766 ($19,912.07) — Carson’s personal checking
account.The government alleges: “Comerica Bé&acount Number *0766 received deposits made
payable to Carson amounting to $62,197.39 from BestBank Account Number *8558. The memo
section indicates that the deposits were paychecks. However, Carson is not an employee of
Safescript Pharmacy. He is married to Giangplos owner of Safescript Pharmacy. In addition,
Carson loaned $95,100.00 from this Comerica acanuhteposite$i53,940.00 in intest and loan
payments from Safescript Pharmacy into #usount. These transactions involved [fraudulent drug
sales] proceeds and were intended to disgaisk conceal the true nature and source of the
[fraudulent drug sales] proceeds, and thus titoisd money laundering.” Am. Compl. T 9(p).

(5) Countrywide Bank account ending/i528 ($51,400.63) — Gianoplos and Carson'’s joint
savings account.The government alleges with respect to this account: “CountryWide Bank

Account Number *7528 was opened on July 19, 2008he names of Carson and Gianoplos.



Between July, 2006, and Noveerb 2007, $41,250.00 was deposited via wire transfer into this
account from Comerica Bank Account Number *07€&me or all of these deposidsnstitute
transactions involving fraudulent prescriptisales proceeds involved in money laundering, to
disguise their true nature and origin. . ..” Am. Compl. 1 9(q).

The government has offered evidence throughedatitbns by FBI analysts Patricia Rossiter
and Wendy M. Freeman in support of its contentiondhlstast some of the proceeds from unlawful
drug sales went into Carson’s bank accounts. Rossiter’s declaration states:

Prior to completing the seizure affidavit, SA Rossiter identified, through

investigation, review, and analysis, fraudulent prescriptions filled at Safescript

Pharmacy # 19 LLC. Atleast some of tffeudulent prescriptions were paid in cash.

During review and analysis with FBinancial Analyst (FA) Wendy M. Freeman,

SA Rossiter and FA Freeman identified cdsposits into one or more of the above

accounts subsequent to the fraudulent prescription activity.

Pl.’s Resp. to Carson’s Mot. for Summ. J., EXRassiter Decl. { 3. Freeman avers that she traced
the proceeds from illegal activities through eacthefaccounts, including the three that belong to
Carson. Pl.’s Resp. to Carson’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. 2, Freeman Decl. | 3.

C. Allegations regarding H.D. Smith

During the period from July 2004 to Ap&D08, Safescript Pharmacy # 19 purchased its
pharmaceuticals and supplies from H.D. Smithdfésale Drug Company, a national wholesaler of
pharmaceuticals. On June 16, 2006, Safescripténi&ed into an agreement with H.D. Smith
granting it a security interest in all of Safepts collateral, wherever located. The agreement
secured all of Safescript’'s obligations to H®mith, “including but not limited to, any balances
owed for goods . . . sold on cieldly Secured Party to Debtor” atall other amounts now or in the

future owed by Debtor to Secured Party.” H.D. Smith’s Am. Mot. for Partial Summ. J., Ex. A, Sec.

Agreement 11 1.1, T 1.2(ii), 1.2(v). H.D. Smith pedddts security interest by filing a financing
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statement (UCC-1 form) with the Michigan Setarry of State on Jurd, 2006, and an amendment
(UCC-3 form) on April 16, 2008.

The security agreement included an acceleration clause under which H.D. Smith could
accelerate the balance of all Safescript’s outstendbligations in the event of default. Upon
default, Safescript also became liable for costs and attorney’s fees. Safescript’s indebtedness
accrues interest at 18% annually from May 31, 2008en Safescript failed to pay for the drugs,
H.D. Smith exercised its rights under agreement and presently is owed $544,322.29.

As a distributor of controlled substancessichedule | or I, H.D. Smith must report
suspicious orders to the DEA. It appears Bh&. Smith “red-flagged” Safescript’s orders twice,
but rescinded both alerts based on its failuretsicer the business model of the pharmacy. Daniel
Roberts, H.D. Smith sales representative asdigmeSafescript account, disclaimed knowledge of
any suspicious activity, attributing the increasering sales to Safescript’s decision to switch main
providers, interruption in the supply of these drfrgen other providers, and the niche market for
the pharmacy surrounded by as many as ten pain clinics. In his affidavit, Roberts averred that
Safescript’s orders of drugs in the Oxy familyrereonsistent with past usage by Safescript, and he
actually expected an increase in sales to Safescript in the Spring of @8€H.D. Smith’s Am.

Mot. for Partial Summ. J., Ex. G, Daniel Roberts Aff. §{ 12-16.

Carson and Gianoplos likewise deny any knalgkeof the wrongdoing. The claimants rely
on the innocent owner defense and ask the Court to sustain their claim to the funds.

The United States alleges that H.D. Smizthrson, and Gianopolos were at least willfully
blind to the wrongdoing, and fact issues preclsig@mary judgment in favor of the claimants as

a matter of law. In support, the government relies on the affidavit of DEA investigator James



Rafalski, who averred that during the period from January 2006 to April 2008, H.D. Smith shipped
to Safescript # 19 nearly ten times the amatfi@xyContin and Oxycodonthat it shipped to its

next largest purchaser of these drugs serviced by H.D. Smith’s Springfield, Illinois distribution
center.SeePl.’s Br. in Resp. to H.D. Smith’s Am. Mdbr Partial Summ. J., Ex. B, Rafalski Decl

19 (orders for Safescript — 255,660 units; esder next highest purchaser — 27,5@@k alsd’l.’s

Br. in Resp. to H.D. Smith’s Am. Mot. for Rel Summ. J., Ex. H, Suppl. Clarifying Decl. of
Rafalski § 5; Pl.’s Resp. to H.Bmith’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. F, Decl. of June E. Howard { 6.

The plaintiff summarized the orders oxycodone 80 mg in January through August 2006 as

follows:
Month Tablets
January 2006 1,800
February 2006 2,000
March 2006 3,700
April 2006 1,000
May 2006 1,800
June 2006 2,600
July 2006 3,900
August 2006 5,400

Pl.’s Br. in Resp. to H.D. SmithAm. Mot. for Partial Summ. J. XEB, Rafalski Decl. 1 6. Another

increase in sales of OxyContin occurred in March-May of 2007, summarized as follows:
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Month Tablets
January 2007 1,400
February 2007 2,400
March 2007 17,600
April 2007 24,400
May 2007 18,200
June 2007 12,600
July 2007 13,200
August 2007 13,200
September 2007 15,000
October 2007 16,800
November 2007 14,400
December 2007 16,400

Id. 7 8.

In March and April of 2006 and in November of 2007, H.D. Smith filed a Suspicious Order
Analysis Report to the DEA for orders fromf&script Pharmacy # 19, but each time proceeded to
ship the orders to Safescri@ee idf 5, 6, 8. During a scheduled regulatory investigation of H.D.
Smith conducted by the DEA investigators frahe Chicago Field Division in August and
September 2006, the DEA questioned the effectiveness of H.D. Smith’s suspicious order system
“due [to] the human element and the pdiedrior error caused by employee turnoveld! § 7;see

also id, Ex. E, Decl. of Scott M. Garriott | &., Ex F, Decl. of June E. Howard.
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D. Proceedings

The present action was filed by the governtra April 11, 2008. An amended complaint
was filed May 2, 2008. Ronald Carsand Stacey Gianoplos filed their answer and notice of claim
on May 23, 2008. Shortly thereafter, the governrfiezat a motion to stay proceedings on May 29,
2008. H.D. Smith filed its notice of claim oank 26, 2008. On January 28, 2009, H.D. Smith filed
its motion for summary judgment, followed byamended motion for summary judgment on March
19, 2009. On March 31, 2009, the Court entered @er@taying discovery until June 1, 2009. The
government moved to extend the stay on May 29, 2009. The Court entered an order denying a
further stay on June 26, 2009. Meanwhile, Gafded a motion for summary judgment on June
11, 2009, and Gianoplos followed suit on June 30, 260tally, the government filed a motion for
a protective order on October 8, 2009 to bloclkcthanmants from taking depositions of government
agents and asking questions about an ongoing criminal investigation. The government has
maintained all along that it was pursuing othersannection with the illedaales of prescription
drugs at the Safescript Pharmaand more indictments were immeint. The case has lain dormant
for several months. No additional indictments have been forthcoming.

II. Dispositive motions

H.D. Smith argues in its motion for summary judgment that, as the only creditor with a
perfected security interest, it has a superior right to the collateral when compared to rights of the
United States or other claimants; and it is entitled to the collateral because of a default in payment
by Safescript and the operation of the acceleratioselathe security agreement. H.D. Smith also
argues thatitis an innocent owner under thd 8aset Forfeiture Reform Act of 2005 (“CAFRA”),

18 U.S.C. § 98@t seq. because it did not have actual knowledge of wrongdoing. According to
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H.D. Smith, the owners of Safescript acknowledifpad funds seized by the United States had been
set aside pending the wire transfer to H.D. Smith to pay down Safescript’'s secured indebtedness.
Carson and Gianoplos style their motionsasions for summary judgment or for judgment
on the pleadings. Although they take issue withamount of indebtedness owed to H.D. Smith,
they agree that as the secured creditor, H.D. Smith has a superior right to the funds. Carson also
argues that he is an innocent owner under the £9gét Forfeiture Reform Act. He contends that
the government has not provided any factual allega that he and Gmplos engaged in money
laundering or that the funds in the following three accounts were traceable to illegal activity:
1. Comerica Bank *0766 ($19,912.07) — Carson’s personal checking
account;
2. Countrywide Bank *5890 ($101,703.10) — Carson’s interest-bearing
savings account;
3. Countrywide *7528 ($51,400.63) — sags account Carson maintained
with his wife Stacey Gianoplos.
Carson explains that any transfers that oszlibetween his and Gianoplos’s accounts were done
on advice of BestBank in order to maximize interest and reduce fees and the risk of loss from
employee theft, embezzlement, cendity theft. He attached a latfeom a banker in support of that
argument. He also points to alternate souraethéfunds in those accognand he maintains that
he performed services for Safescript Pharmacy for which he was paid.
Stacey Gianoplos also moved for summary judgment or judgment on the pleadings with
respect to the following accounts:
1. BestBank account ending in 85%3.9,912.07) — Safescript’s checking
account;
2. BestBank account ending in 2677 ($463,497.72) — Safescript’s interest-
bearing Money Market account;

3. Countrywide account ending 7528 ($51,400.63) — Gianoplos and
Carson’s joint account that is also subject to Carson’s motion.
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She likewise asserts an innocent owner defense and disclaims all knowledge of Richard Riozzi's
illegal scheme. She also alleges that Georgé,Seho filled the prescriptions, actively concealed
his illegal activity from her. She furnished a declaration in support of her arguments.

A. Motion standard

A motion for judgment on the pleadings or for summary judgment under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(c) generally is reviewed unitie standards that govern motions brought under
Rule 12(b)(6).SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(c)ickers v. Fairfield Med. Ctr453 F.3d 757, 761 (6th Cir.
2006); Ziegler v. IBP Hog Mkt., In¢.249 F.3d 509, 511-12 (6th Cir. 2001). All parties have
attached to their motion papers affidavits and documentary evidence that are not part of the
pleadings. Because the parties have had natidean opportunity to present their materials in
support of their positions, the Court can andsdoenvert the claimants’ motions to summary
judgment motions under Rule 5&eeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(d) (stag that “[i]f, on a motion under
Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside the plegsiiare presented to and not excluded by the court,
the motion must be treated as doesummary judgment under Rule 56.Hayes v. Equitable
Energy Res. Cp266 F.3d 560, 571 (6th Cir. 2001) (stating that Rule 12(b) “empowers a district
court to grant summary judgmesnta sponteavhere the court is presented with materials outside the
pleadings. . . . depend[ing] on the facts and circumstances of each case”).

A motion for summary judgment under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 presumes the
absence of a genuine issue of material fact fdr ffiae Court must viewhe evidence and draw all
reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party and determine “whether the evidence
presents a sufficient disagreement to require ssdiam to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that

one party must prevail as a matter of lariderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 251-52

-14-



(1986). The “[slJummary judgment procedure isgarly regarded not as a disfavored procedural
shortcut, but rather as an integral part of theeff@l Rules as a whole, which are designed to secure
the just, speedy and inexpensivéadmination of every action.Celotex Corp. v. Catrett 77 U.S.

317, 327 (1986) (internal quotes omitted).

A fact is “material” if its resolution affects the outcome of the lawsuienning v.
Commercial Union Ins. Cp260 F.3d 574, 581 (6th Cir. 2001). “Materiality” is determined by the
substantive law claimBoyd v. Baepple215 F.3d 594, 599 (6th Cir. 2000). An issue is “genuine”
if a “reasonable jury could retuenverdict for the nonmoving partyFenson v. Nat’l Aeronautics
& Space Admin.14 F.3d 1143, 1148 (6th Cir. 1994) (quotiAgderson 477 U.S. at 248).
Irrelevant or unnecessary factual disputes darezte genuine issues of material f&it. Francis
Health Care Catre v. Shalala205 F.3d 937, 943 (6th Cir. 2000). When the “record taken as a
whole could not lead a rational trier of faotfind for the nonmoving party,” there is no genuine
issue of material factMich. Paytel Joint Venture v. City of Detro#87 F.3d 527, 534 (6th Cir.
2002). Thus a factual dispute which “is memorable or is not significantly probative” will not
defeat a motion for summary judgment which is properly suppoiealft v. United States991
F.2d 292, 296 (6th Cir. 1993¢e also Int’l Union, United Auto., Aerospace & Agric. Implement
Workers of Am. v. BVR Liquidating, In&90 F.3d 768, 772 (6th Cir. 1999).

The party bringing the summary judgment motion has the initial burden of informing the
district court of the basis for its motion and itB#ing portions of the record which demonstrate the
absence of a genuine dispute over material fadts.Lebanon Pers. Care Home, Inc. v. Hoover
Universal, Inc, 276 F.3d 845, 848 (6th Cir. 2002). The party opposing the motion then may not

“rely on the hope that the trier of fact will disbeligiie movant’s denial of a disputed fact” but must
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make an affirmative showing with proper evidence in order to defeat the m@&toeet v. J.C.
Bradford & Co, 886 F.2d 1472, 1479 (6th Cir. 1989). pArty opposing a motion for summary
judgment must designate specific facts in affitawepositions, or other factual material showing
“evidence on which the jury coul@éaisonably find for the plaintiff.’Anderson477 U.S. at 252.

If the non-moving party, after sufficient opportunfty discovery, is unable to meet his or her
burden of proof, summary judgment is clearly propgeéelotex Corp.477 U.S. at 322-23.

In a defensive motion for summary judgmehg party who bearsétburden of proof must
present a jury question as to each element of the claawis v. McCourt226 F.3d 506, 511 (6th
Cir. 2000). Failure to prove an essential element of a claim renders all other facts immaterial for
summary judgment purposeBlvis Presley Enters., Inc. v. Elvisly Yours, |r&86 F.2d 889, 895
(6th Cir. 1991). “[T]he party opposing the sunmgnpudgment motion must ‘do more than simply
show that there is some “metaphysidaubt as to the material facts.”™ighland Capital, Inc. v.
Franklin Nat’'l| Bank 350 F.3d 558, 564 (6th Cir. 2003) (quotkigrce v. Commonwealth Life Ins.
Co,, 40 F.3d 796, 800 (6th Cir. 1994), addtsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co4{5
U.S. 574, 586 (1986)). “Thus, the mere existeoica scintilla of evidence in support of the
[opposing party]’'s position will be insufficient; treemust be evidence on which the jury could
reasonably find for the [opposing party]lbid. (quoting Anderson 477 U.S. at 252) (internal
guotation marks omitted).

When the moving party also bears the ultinbatelen of persuasion, the movant’s affidavits
and other evidence not only must shibe absence of a material fessue, they also must carry that
burden. Vance v. Latimer648 F. Supp. 2d 914, 919 (E.D. Mich. 2008 also Stat-Tech

Ligquidating Trust v. Fenste©81 F. Supp. 1325, 1335 (D. Colo. 1997) (stating that where “the
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crucial issue is one on which the movant will b ultimate burden of proof at trial, summary
judgment can be entered only if the movant submvidentiary materials to establish all of the
elements of the claim or defenseRgsolution Trust Corp. v. Gi®60 F.2d 336, 340 (3d Cir. 1992).
In his commentary on affirni@e motions for summary judgment, Judge William Schwarzer
explains:

When the moving party bears the burden of persuasion on the issue at trial, its

showing must sustain that burden as well as demonstrate the absence of a genuine

dispute. Thus, it must satisfy botletimitial burden of production on the summary

judgment motion — by showing that no genuine dispute exists as to any material fact

— and the ultimate burden of persuasionthe claim—by showing that it would be

entitled to a directed verdict at trial.
William W. Schwarzer, et all,he Analysis and Decision of Summary Judgment Motl@®4-.R.D.
441, 477-78 (1992) (footnote omitted).

B. Proof Requirements under CAFRA

Under the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §88&q,.the United States may claim
by forfeiture “[a]ll moneys, negotiable instruments, securities, or other things of value furnished or
intended to be furnished by any person in exchémg controlled substance or listed chemical in
violation of [Title Il of the Act] all proceeds traceable to suah exchange, and all moneys,
negotiable instruments, and securities used or intetodee used to facilitate any violation of [Title
Il of the Act].” 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6). Alsalsject to forfeiture is ‘@]ny property . . . involved
in a transaction or attempted transaction inatioh of section 1956 . of this title [(laundering of
monetary instruments)], or any property traceabseith property.” 18 U.S.C. 8§ 981(a)(1)(A). The

laundering of monetary instruments includes promotional money laundering, 18 U.S.C. §

1956(a)(1)(A)(i), and money laundering to disguise and conceal, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).
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Under the Civil Asset Forfeite Reform Act (CAFRA), “the burden of proof is on the
Government to establish, by a preponderancehefevidence, that the property is subject to
forfeiture.” 18 U.S.C. § 983(c)(1). CAFRiAposes a higher burden of proof on the government
than previously existed. Under the old stadda showing of probable cause sufficed, and the
claimant was required to prove non-fotébility by a preponderance of evidendgnited States v.

Real Prop. in Section, 241 F.3d 796, 797 (6th Cir. 2001) (citing 19 U.S.C. § 1615 (1984)). The
new standard was introduced to “level[] the playing field between the government and persons
whose property has been seized” by raising “the government’s burden of proof in civil forfeiture
actions to the burden normally borne by thenilHiin a civil case — preponderance of the
evidence.”ld. at 799. In addition, if the governmefieges forfeitability based on a facilitation
theory, “the Government [must] establish thia¢re was a substantial connection between the
property and the offense.” 18 U.S.C. 8§ 983(c)(3).

“The burden of showing something by agwaderance of the evidence, the most common
standard in the civil law, simply requires the téfact to believe thathe existence of a fact is
more probable than its nonexistence before [hgj]fina in favor of the party who has the burden
to persuade the [jury] of the fact’s existenc&bncrete Pipe and Prods. of Cal., Inc. v. Constr.
Laborers Pension Trust for S. Ca308 U.S. 602, 622 (1993) (quotihgre Winship 397 U.S. 358,
371-72 (1970) (Harlan, J., concurring)) (quotation marks omitted). “That the burden is on the
government does not change the fact thatgiigivernment meets its burden, it will prevail unless
the claimants introduce evidence to support their catmited States v$174,206.00 in U.S.

Currency 320 F.3d 658, 662 (6th Cir. 2003).
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“The government can acquire through forfeiture no greater interest than that held by the
defendant at the time the criminal acts were committeaited States v. Jones02 F.3d 388, 392
(6th Cir. 2007). A perfected security interestairbusiness’s assets may take priority over the
government’s claim to assets through forfeiture.

C. Innocent Owner Defense

“An innocent owner’s interest in property #haot be forfeited under any civil forfeiture
statute.” 18 U.S.C. § 983(d)(1). “With respecatproperty interest in existence at the time the
illegal conduct giving rise to forfeiture took platan “innocent owner” is “an owner who — (i)
did not know of the conduct givingse to forfeiture; or (ii) upolearning of the conduct giving rise
to the forfeiture, did all that reasonably couldepected under the circumstances to terminate such
use of the property.” 18 U.S.€983(d)(2)(A). “With respect ta property interest acquired after
the conduct giving rise to forfeiture has takearcgl,” an “innocent owner” includes one “who, at the
time that person acquired the interest in the property — did not know and was reasonably without
cause to believe that the property was subjefdrfeiture.” 18 U.S.C. § 983(d)(3)(A)(ii)). “The
claimant shall have the burden of proving thatdlaimant is an innocent owner by a preponderance
of the evidence.” 18 U.S.C. § 983(d)(4¢e also United States v. Lots 12, 13, 14, 8889 F.2d
942, 948 (6th Cir. 1989).

One court, parsing the statute, has obsethvaidoroof an innocent owner is “one waither
lacks knowledge of the illicit activities giving rise to the forfeituoewho has knowledge of the
activity but has evinced his lack of consbg affirmatively attempting to stop it.United States
v. One 1988 Checolet 410 Turbo Prop Aircy&82 F. Supp. 2d 1379, 1382 (S.D. Fla. 2003)

(emphasis added). Most courts require actual, rather than constructive, knowledge of the
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wrongdoing to rule out the defens8ee United States v. $4,255,000 in U.S. Currerg® F.2d
895, 906 (11th Cir. 1985) (holding thanhder 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6), the application of the innocent
owner defense “turns on the claimant’s actual knowledge, not constructive knowledigésy
States v. $10,694.00 in U.S. Curren828 F.2d 233, 234-35 (4th Cir. 198@yerruled on other
grounds byUnited States v. WalkeB89 F.2d 1317 (4th Cir. 19893tating that “§ 881(a)(6)
envisions an actual knowledge inquiryQnited States v. Real Property at 2659 Roundhill Qrive
283 F.3d 1146, 1152 n.8 (9th Cir. 2002) (requiring actual knowledgéed States v. $175,260.00
in U.S. Currency741 F. Supp. 45, 48 (E.N.Y. 1990) (same)but see United States v. Real
Property Located at 10936 Oak Run Circ®F.3d 74, 76 (9th Cir. 1993) (leaning towards a
constructive-knowledge approach and holding'inabcence is incompatible with knowledge that
puts the owner on notice that he should inquird&r). However, actual knowledge can be proven
by circumstantial evidenceSee One 1988 Checolet 410 Turbo Prop Air¢ci282 F. Supp. 2d at
1383 (noting that a property owner “may natrft a blind eye’ toward [evidence of drug
involvement] and still claim ‘innocent owner’ status under CAFRA”).

One modification CAFRA made to the civibrfeiture law’s statutory text was the
elimination of a specific refence to “willful blindness.'Compare21 U.S.C. 8§ 881(a)(4)(C) (1996)
(establishing an innocent owner defense for aneswvho could show that the underlying act was
committed “without [his] knowledge, consent, willful blindnes$ (emphasis added)yith 18
U.S.C. §983(d)(2)-(3). That has led courts tastjoe whether the concept of willful blindness still
exists in forfeiture cases§ee One 1988 Checolet 410 Turbo Prop Air¢c282 F. Supp. 2d at 1382
(“Itis unclear whether ‘wilful bndness’ of a property owner still opéea as a facet of or equivalent

to actual knowledge for purposes of defeatingdicent owner’ status under CAFRA.”). The Court
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believes it does. As a general proposition, “a defetslknowledge of a fact may be inferred from
willful blindness to the existence of the factJhited States v. Pring14 F.3d 740, 761 (6th Cir.
2000). Moreover, the courts that have considdredjuestion have coaced that CAFRA did not
eliminate willful blindness from the innocent owner analysiee, e.g., One 1988 Checolet 410
Turbo Prop Aircraft 282 F. Supp. 2d at 1382-83; United States v. 2001 Honda Accord Ex VIN
#1HGCG22561A035829245 F. Supp. 2d 602, 611 & n.8 (M.D. P@03) (noting that the innocent
owner defense under CAFRA does not have a pramviexpressly mentioning willful blindness, but
nevertheless applying pre-CAFRA willful blindness standard).

D. Discussion

1. H.D. Smith

H.D. Smith does not take issue with the fact that the accounts belonging to Safescript are
subject to forfeiture. Rather, it claims that it katablished that it is an innocent owner as a matter
of law. As noted earlier, the claimant has Burden of proving thatroposition. The Court finds
that the government has come forward with sigfit facts to preclude summary judgment on that
affirmative defense.

The government bases its allegation that H.D. Smith was willfully blind to Safescript’s
unlawful activities on two lines of evidence: (a) the lax attitude of Daniel Roberts, a sales
representative dealing with Safescript, in monitoring the pharmacy'’s orders; and (b) the irregularities
in Safescript’s orders of controlled substancektd. D. Smith’s failure to report excessive purchases
of such substances.

The first line of argument is without merit.Daniel Roberts, H.D. Smith’s sales

representative who was solelypessible for Safescript’s accountysistently denied having actual
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knowledge or subjective suspicion of any nefarious activity at Safescript. Although he conceded
that he did not specifically monitor the salesaitrolled substances to Safescript, he explained that

he did not consider it his task to do so. Theeefbe did not know about the spike in Safescript’s
orders of oxycodone around February 2007 or March 2007. And to the extent the government
alleges he should have been alarmed by sizeadolers from Safescript from the beginning,
Roberts’s explanation — that he deemed thersriggitimate given the proximity of several pain
clinics — is plausible. At most, Roberts mididve been negligent in failing to inquire into
Safescript’s distribution of Schedule Il and Illuds. However, a showing of negligence is not
sufficient to support a finding of willful blindnes&ee United States v. Hoffm&48 F.2d 44, 46-

47 (6th Cir. 1990).

However, as a distributor of controlled substances, H.D. Smith was subject to the reporting
and monitoring requirements of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of
1970, 21 U.S.C. § 804t seq.Under that Act, entities and indliluals who manufacture, distribute,
or dispense controlled substances must register with the Attorney General. 21 U.S.C. 8§ 822-23.
All registrants must maintain inventory recordsttoe attorney general’s inspection. 21 U.S.C. §
827(b). The Attorney General has delegated aifjttorgrant, deny, revoke, or suspend registration
to the DEA Administrator. 28 C.F.R. 8 0.100(b). In addition, the Act requires manufacturers and
distributors of controlled substances to “make peciogjports to the Attorney General of every sale,
delivery or other disposal by him of any cotigd substance.” 21 U.S.C. § 827(d)(1). Those
reports must include notification of suspicious orders of controlled substances, which requires
manufacturers and distributors to monitor drug ordering traffic.

The registrant shall design and operate a system to disclose to the registrant
suspicious orders of controlled substances. The registrant shall inform the Field
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Division Office of the Administration irhis area of suspicious orders when

discovered by the registrant. Suspicious sdeclude orders of unusual size, orders

deviating substantially from a normal pattern, and orders of unusual frequency.
21 C.F.R. § 1301.74(b). Tmeported information is collected in the Automation of Reports and
Consolidated Orders System (ARCOS), whictdatabase that housamdtrolled substance activity
as reported by DEA-registered manufacturers and distributors. Pl.’s Br. in Resp. to H.D. Smith’s
Am. Mot. for Partial Summ. J.. Ex. F, Decl. eing Howard at J 2. ARCOS data can be used to
verify sales of unusually large amounts of controlled substariceks.

According to the declaration of DEA divessiinvestigator Kyle Wright, the DEA reminded
the Director of Corporate Security at Safgsi;rGeorge Euson, of the company’s responsibilities
under the Act during briefings on January2006 and October 10, 2007. The meetings were
apparently conducted at the behest of H.D. Sits#if, after the company became concerned with
the DEA’s recent administrative actions against other drug distributors. The meetings included
discussion of suspicious orders of three sample customers, whose sales of controlled substances
were not consistent with legitimate pharmaceutical practices.

Yet, when H.D. Smith saw several spikes ifieSeript’s orders of controlled substances, it
did not report all of them to the DEA as instruttés noted earlier, spikes occurred in Safescript’s
purchases of oxycodone 80 mg in January thrdugjust 2006, and in sales of oxycontin in March
through May 2007.

Although H.D. Smith filed a Suspicious Order Analysis Report in March and April 2006 and
then again in November 2007, it did not file simil@ports for other spikes in July or August 2006,

April 2007, or other months when Safescript’'s orders of controlled substances increased

dramatically. There was no explanation for spikeisng these months, as with other periods when
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another distributor may have lost a patent, compelling Safescript to buy all of its controlled
substances from H.D. Smith. In addition, even in the months when H.D. Smith did file its reports,
it nevertheless proceeded to ship the orders to Safescript, contrary to the established fSexocol.
Pl.’s Br. in Resp. to H.D. Smith’s Am. Mot. fétartial Summ. J.. Ex. B, Rafalski Decl. {1 5, 6, 8.

Moreover, during the period from January 2006 to April 2008, H.D. Smith shipped to
Safescript #19 nearly ten times the amountxf@bpntin and Oxycodone that it shipped to its next
largest purchaser of these drugs serviced by H.D. Smith’s Springfield, Illinois distribution center.
See idf 9; see also id.Ex. H, Suppl. Clarifying Decl. of Rafalski { i, Ex. F, Decl. of June E.
Howard § 6. Yet, these numbers did not seem to alarm the distributor.

Based on this information, the Court cannot codelas a matter of law that H.D. Smith was
not willfully blind to unlawful ativity at Safescript. Therefore, the Court cannot conclude as a
matter of law that H.D. Smith has sustained its burden of proof on this defense.

2. Gianoplos and Safescript Accounts

Best Bank account numbers *8558 containing $19,936.77 (Safescript’'s payroll account)
and*2677 containing $463,497.72 were seifzeth Gianoplos and Safeript. Gianoplos submits
she “never observed any illegal activity atmralving Safescript.” Gianoplos’s Mot. for Summ.
J., Ex. 2, Gianoplos Decl. 1 13. This declaraticorstradicted by Riozzi's statements at his guilty
plea hearing and FBI Agent White’s sealed affidavit. White’s affidavit, however, contains only
hearsay statements and cannot be used by the government to defeat a summary judgment motion.
SeefFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4) (“Aaffidavit or declaration used to support or oppose a motion must
be made on personal knowledge, set out factsibalid be admissible in evidence, and show that

the affiant or declarant is competent to testify on the matters stated.”).
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However, at his plea hearing, Riozzi stated tieahad “reason to believe that the owners or
people who had ownership interest in the pharmacy kméad reason to belietleat what [he] was
doing . . . was illegal behavior,” and that “memsef management” were “usually present when
the transactions, particularly the cash transactions were occurring.” Pl.’s Resp to Carson’s and
Gianoplos’'s Renewed Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. 1, Tr. Riozzi Plea Hr'g, at 17-19. The question
becomes one of credibility between Gianoplos ammtRithat must be resolved by the fact finder;
therefore, there is a genuine issue of materiabstd whether Gianoplegas willfully blind to the
drug diversions by Riozzi and those that work@ti Wwim. Gianoplos and Safescript are not entitled
to summary judgment on account numbers *8558 or *2677.

3. Carson’s Accounts

Countrywide Bank account number *5890 containing $101,703.10 (Carson’s savings
account), Comerica Bank account number *0766 containing $19,912.07 (Carson’s checking
account), and Countrywide Bank accounmber *7528 containing $51,317.06 (Gianoplos and
Carson’s joint savings account) were seized froms@a He contends thlits savings account was
“opened . .. to earn higher interest rates. [Hd]lbarned of its 5.4% interest rate, higher than the
rates offered by BestBank or anywhere else fleejld find. The account also did not have the
restrictions on withdrawals, nor did it charge fiansfers.” Carson’s and Gianoplos’s Renewed
Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. 3, Carson Decl. 1 Llkewise, Carson alleges that the $100,000 check he
received on October 16, 2007 was

a payment to [him] on the unpaid balance efltan [he] gave [his] wife to help her

start her business[. She] transferred funds from the BestBank account number

*2677[, Safescript's money market accountp the Safescript operating accountin

order to make that payment to [him] by check, following the very same procedure

Safescript used for every other trade dese¢rviced. Furthermore, to avoid taking
the already opened CountryWide Savings Link account beyond the $100,000.00
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maximum insurable limit, [he] depositehe funds into a second CountryWide

Savings link in [his] own name to indicaeparate and distinct ownership for a new

and separate $100,000.00 to come within the limit then insured by the FDIC.

On the advice of [his] bankers, [hephalys tried to avoid having more than
$100,000.00 in any single account as anythbaya that (at the time) would not be

insured by the FDIC.

Id. 1112-13. Carson also contends that he israployee of Safescript “as evidenced by his 2006
and 2007 W-2s, previously filed as exhibits Glaimants in their Answer to the Amended
Complaint.” Carson’s and Gianoplos’'s Renewed Mot. for Summ. J. T 12.

However, as noted earlier, the governmesstfoanished declarations by analysts Rossiter
and Freeman showing that deposits into Carsaetsunts were made after some of the fraudulent
drug transactions, and the agents traced tbheepds from illegal activities through each of the
accounts, including the three that belong to Carson.

These declarations are sufficient to creats fssues that preclude summary judgment in
favor of Carson. A trial is required to resolve the dispute.

[ll. Motion or Protective order

The government has filed a motion for a protective order to prevent the claimants from
taking the depositions of the investigating agentsanalysts and to resist the production of certain
documents. The motion was provoked by a discokegyest from Carson and Gianoplos for the
following documents:

1. All Rule 11 plea bargain agreements;
2. All cooperation agreements;
3 All statements written or oral of each individual who has plead[ed]

guilty or made statements in the ongoing criminal cases Nos. 09-cr-
20039 and 09-cr-20021.

4. All documents, including but not limited to, correspondence
reflecting any other agreements between the government and
individuals.
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5. Copies of all oral and written staments made to or in the presence

of any law enforcement officer, by or between the aforementioned

individuals and any other person, or intercepted or overheard

conversation to anyone, containing any and all information regarding

the subject matter of the two crimalrprosecutions referred to above.
PI's Mot. for Protective Order [dkt #111], Ex.Req. for Prod. at 1-2. Ehdocuments were to be
produced before the scheduled depositions ofdfatRossiter and James Rafalski. In the same
motion, the government also renewed its request to stay the proceedings.

The documents requested by the claimants weeetdid at eight individuals indicted in the
two related cases that were pending in this didtefore Judge Cook, inaling George Scott, Dr.
Sohrab Shafinia, Richard Rioz8tuart Stein, Randell McDanielnd Gerald Richards, as well as
unnamed co-conspirators in the two criminal casemeMf these individuals is a party in this civil
forfeiture case, although many if ndt af them likely will be witnesses.

The government argues that the plea bargadrcaoperation agreements that the claimants
requested for individuals indicted in the two criminal cases are under seal, the document requests
for witness statements are improper because waayd include grand jury evidence, and the
balance of the requests would reveal information in the ongoing criminal investigation of Stacey
Gianoplos and thereby impede the progress afrih@nal investigation and impinge on Rafalski’'s
and Rossiter’s law enforcement privileges. The government also argues that the documents in
groups 4 and 5 are not related to the ongoing civil forfeiture case.

The Court has already elaborated on the standards for stay of forfeiture proceedings under
18 U.S.C. 8§ 981(g), and the governing rules need not be repeatedSem®pinion & Order

Granting in Part Gov't's Mot. t&tay Proceedings [dkt. # 58ke als@rder Denying the Pl.’s Mot.

to Extend the Stay of Civil Forfeiture Procamgh [dkt. # 86]. It is enough to note that CAFRA
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authorizes a district court to stay proceedingsémever a court determines that civil discovery will
adversely affect the ability of the United Statemt@stigate or prosecute a related criminal case.”
United States v. GAF Financial Servs., |ri835 F. Supp. 2d 1371, 1373 (S.D. Fla. 208d¢ also

18 U.S.C. §981(g)(1) (“Upon the motion of the UniBadtes, the court shall stay the civil forfeiture
proceeding if the court determines that cividativery will adversely affect the ability of the
Government to conduct a related criminal investigation or the prosecution of a related criminal
case.”). Section 981 also allows the Court toremf®otective order, but “[ijn no case . . . shall the
courtimpose a protective order as an alternativetayaf the effect of such protective order would

be to allow one party to pursue discovery whiledtieer party is substantially unable to do so.” 18
U.S.C. 8§ 981(9)(3).

The government has not presented any evidence that litigating the present matter and
allowing discovery will interfergvith an ongoing investigation or prosecution. The criminal cases
against the defendants involvedtire illegal drug diversions adlre terminated by judgments or
dismissals. The government has had its evidence of Stacy Gianoplos’'s involvement in the
transactions for more than two years. Theldrations cataloging the documentary evidence were
filed in 2008 and 2009. Agent Alexander White filedeclaration under seal in which he described
the debriefing of some of the criminal defendamthie now-closed cases, and that information has
been available to the government for at leastyears. If the government had a provable criminal
case against Stacy Gianoplos or anyone else indaivine Safescripts transactions, it could have
made a presentation to a grand jury by novalllevents, however, countenancing further delay and
tying up substantial amounts of seized cash cannot be justified by the information furnished by the

government to date. This case must proceed.
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That does not mean, however, that the claisiarg entitled to all the discovery they seek.
Based on the government’s representation, the Rujfgea agreements were placed under seal by
Judge Cook. To unseal these materials, thienents would have to petition Judge Cook, who is
presiding over both of these cases to riyottie terms of the sealing orde€f. Meyer Goldberg,

Inc. v. Fisher Foods, Inc823 F.2d 159 (6th Cir. 1987) (endorsing firactice of intervening in the
underlying case for the purpose of modifying diagaorder). In addition, the document requests

are broad enough to encompass testimony by witnesses before the grand jury. Grand jury testimony
is not subject to discoveryred. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(2)(B¥ee also In re Grand Jury Subpoenés4

F.3d 511, 521 (6th Cir. 2006) (“Grand jury ssxy is . . . a strong command . . . .BADIC v. Ernst

& Whinney 921 F.2d 83, 86 (6th Cir. 199®)dlding that “[t]he sanctity of the grand jury as a means

of criminal investigation” is paramount evethé discovery of grand jury materials is being sought

in a civil case).

“Parties may obtain discovery regarding any nonprivileged matter that is relevant to any
party’s claim or defense — including the existence, description, nature, custody, condition, and
location of any documents or other tangiblengfs and the identity and location of persons who
know of any discoverable matter.” Fed. R. C\2&(b). The scope of discovery under the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure is “quite broadlewis v. ACB Bus. Servs., Int35 F.3d 389, 402 (6th
Cir. 1998). Itis “broader than that permittedratl. The test is whether the line of interrogation
is reasonably calculated to lead te thscovery of admissible evidencéfellon v. Cooper-Jarrett,

Inc., 424 F.2d 499, 501 (6th Cir. 1970). Even thougmaterial obtained through discovery may
not be offered or admitted at trial, “[m]utual knowledge of all the relevant facts . . . is essential to

proper litigation.” Hickman v. Taylar329 U.S. 495, 507-08 (1947).
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The government invokes a“law enforcement investigatory privilege.” This privilege exists
where there is (1) “a formal claim of privilege tye head of the department having control over the
requested information”; (2) an assertion of privilege is “based on actual personal consideration by
that official”; and (3) “the infomation for which the privilege is claimed [is] specified, with an
explanation why it properly falls with the scope othe privilege.” In re Sealed Cas&56 F.2d
268, 271 (D.C. Cir. 1988). The privilege can apgplyesser-positioned officials such as the head
of the appropriate regional division of the FDIC’s supervisory personnel, head of the U.S. Army
Criminal Investigation Command, FBI general counsel, or inspector geSemlandry v. FDIC
204 F.3d 1125, 1135 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (citations omittett)has also been applied to prohibit
disclosure of FBI agents’ names and FBI's internal operating protoaisrto Rico v. United
States490 F.3d 50, 70-71 (1st Cir. 2007). The law ecément investigatory privilege applies with
greater force to a request by a party in a civiltswobtain materials from the government’s criminal
investigation. Dellwood Farms, Inc. v. Cargill, Inc128 F.3d 1122, 1124 (7th Cir. 1997).

“The burden of establishing the existence efphivilege rests with the party asserting it.”
United States v. Dakatd97 F.3d 821, 825 (6th Cir. 1999) (citingre Grand Jury Investigation
No. 83-2-35 723 F.2d 447, 450 (6th Cir. 1983)). The government’s justification for refusing
discovery parallels its request to stay the proceedings altogether. As noted above, that justification
IS unpersuasive.

In their motion papers, all parties have identified their respective discovery needs, and it is
apparent that more time will be needed to rehéycase for trial. Buiot much. Depositions of

some of the actors have been taken already, and the government apparently completed its
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investigation sufficiently to maintain successfudgcutions in two separate cases. The Court will
allow a limited time to complete discovery.
IV. Conclusion

The Court concludes that fact questions preclude summary judgment for the claimants.
There is no basis to stay the proceedings any further. The government’s motion for a protective
order will be granted in part and denied in pdithe parties must complete discovery. A trial date
will be scheduled following a status conference.

Accordingly, it isSORDERED that H.D. Smith’'s amended motion for partial summary
judgment [dkt # 54], Ronald G. Carson’s tioo for judgment on the pleadings or summary
judgment [dkt. # 80], and Stacey Hogan Giaons{d motion for judgment on the pleadings or
summary judgment [dkt. # 88], and Carsoatsd Gianoplos’s renewed motion for summary
judgment [dkt. #121] arBENIED.

It is further ORDERED that thegovernment’ motior for protective ordel or, in the
alternative, for entry of stay [dkt. # 111]JGRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART .

It is furtherORDERED that the claimants may not obtaaled documents in the criminal
cases before Judge Cook in this district until they move successfully to unseal those documents; and
the claimants may not obtain witness testimony presented to the grand jury. The government’s
motion is denied in all other respects.

It is furtherORDERED that the parties shall complete discoveryMay 31, 2011

It is furtherORDERED that counsel for the parties appear before the Coukpoih 20,

2011 at 2:30 p.mto discuss further case management deadlines and schedule the matter for trial.

s/David M. Lawson
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DAVID M. LAWSON
United States District Judge

Dated: March 24, 2011
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